Seven Acres Country Park and Nature Reserve – Place Names

Foreword – Seven Acres, which is council-owned, was designated as a Local Nature Reserve in April 2004 under the National Parks & Access to the Countryside Act 1949.
The whole area of the Nature Reserve totals some 69 acres so, where did the name Seven Acres come from?

In her book; 1764 Field names of Breightmet, Sara Vernon explains that it was the amount of water (in the 1700’s) that totalled seven acres.
The Wildlife Trust has a number of different groups of Volunteers working at different sites around Bolton and, the ones that work mainly on Seven Acres is the Seven Acres Squad (S.A.S!) and the Wednesday Wildlife Volunteers (WWV)

In November 2013 the Bolton office of the Lancashire Wildlife Trust hosted a one-day seminar to which all the other ‘Friends of..’ groups in the north-west of England were invited.

By the end of the seminar it was clear that the Friends of Seven Acres were the envy of many of the other Groups and much of it is probably due to the following factors:

We are a self-funded, fully constitutionalised group of volunteers and we operate under the umbrella of the Lancashire Wildlife Trust in Bolton. 
Through the guidance of the Wildlife Trust we apply for various Grants and, when we are successful, the Grants pay towards the cost of some of the tools that we use, protective clothing, and our insurance.

We receive expert guidance and assistance from the Trust and they motivate us by explaining the reasoning behind the work that we do. 
They also give us training as to the correct way to handle the tools, ensure that we operate safely and actively encourage us to apply for AQA’s. 
Importantly, we are privileged to be able to work out of the ERC building/workshop
Within the Friends of Seven Acres group we have: an arborist, an archaeologist, a botanist, an entomologist, a historian, an ornithologist and a mycologist.
Members of the group are continually collecting data and compiling records regarding the wildlife etc. They also do guided-Walks and Talks and generally assist the Trust in all manner of things.
The species which we have recorded so far on Seven Acres include:

Amphibians – 4
Bats - 4
Birds - 101
Butterflies – 23
Dragonflies - 10
Foxes 
Frogs and Toads
Mink (unfortunately?)
Moths - 150
Newts - 2
Rabbits
Roe Deer
Shrews
Snails
Slugs
Trees – 30
Voles
Weasel
Woodmice

We have a strong, dedicated group of Volunteers who turn up every Friday, whatever the weather (the Seven Acres Squad – the SAS!). 
Quote: ‘I never cease to be amazed at the energetic enthusiasm with which the Volunteers undertake the tasks. And, they’re in the age-range 18 – 80! Usually the girls outnumber the boys by about 3:1! Amazing and such FUN!!’ (John Franklin – March 2014)

See our website for much more information:

http://www.boltonfriendsofsevenacres.btck.co.uk
Place names - as shown on the map which was produced by the Friends of Seven Acres to aid with the reporting of ‘sightings’ etc.
Bank Top Bench – this was the site of one of the nine 18th century coal mines shown on the 1847 map. The bench was made from a fallen Ash tree by LWT volunteers and installed in March 2012 by the SAS.

Towards the end of each summer - look for the tall stems and purple flowers of Scabious amongst the grasses on the south side of this bench. At the same time look out for the plant called Red Bartsia which enjoys growing along the path edges. It has very leafy stems and tiny pink flowers.


Nearby, to the south of the bench, is a magnificent Italian Alder tree. It differs from our native species in a number of ways, most notably with its glossy leaves and upright catkins. How this foreign tree came to be growing on Seven Acres is unknown but it may be that its tolerance for high levels of pollution meant it was specially selected once Seven Acres industry declined. Interestingly we only know of one other specimen on site.

Bird Cherry footpath – so called because of the Bird Cherry trees which are on the edge of the Kingfisher Trail at the point where the path heads north-east, up four steps, and alongside Longfield Clearing to School Wood. Enjoy the cherry blossom in the spring.
On the other side of the path, opposite the Bird cherry trees can be seen Seven Acres’ other native species of cherry, sometimes called Gean or simply Wild Cherry, it is one of the first trees to come into blossom each year and can be easily identified by its distinctive bark which is covered in horizontal flecks sometimes referred to as stretch marks.
On summer evenings, the Common Pipistrelle bats can be seen swooping as they feed on the insects which prevail in the margins of the woodland.

Bleachworks Pond – in Sara Vernon’s book, * ‘1764 Field Names’ we learn that there was once a water-powered corn mill here but by about 1800 it had been converted to a Bleaching Works and it is shown on the 1847 map as the ***Tootill Bridge Bleach Works.

Investigations of the ruins suggest that, by 1847, it would probably have been powered by a steam-driven Beam Engine.
On the 1927 map it is shown as the Tootill Bridge Print Works.

The pond was created by the Bolton Council in 2005 when flooding of the area was investigated and part of the bleach works yard was found. The lining of the pond was undertaken later in 2008 when leaks were becoming problematic.
The Wildlife Trust have introduced all manner of plants to the pond in order to help increase its biodiversity and, in the summer, the visiting parties of schoolchildren who are on educational visits can be seen ‘pond dipping’ here. 
This pond is particularly good because the species likely to be found include the magnificent Water Scorpion, camouflaged Caddisfly larvae, springy Freshwater Shrimp, sticklebacks and a whole host of dragonflies including Azure and Blue-tailed Damselflies, both of which breed in the pond in spring and summer.

Look out for the large yellow flowers of Marsh Marigold on the edge of the pond in the spring and the pink/purple flowers of Great Hairy Willow herb in summer. 
In the very early spring look out for the strange pinky/white flowers of Butterbur which grow along the bank of the pond. Butterbur is so called as the huge rhubarb-like leaves with their downy undersides were used to wrap around butter in the days before refrigerators 

Bob’s Bench – the bench was named after an elderly chap (called Bob!) who, after parking his car in the Thicketford Road car park could just manage to walk to Pebble Beach where he HAD to rest. One time, in 2012, the bench had to be removed for repair – much to Bob’s despair! He couldn’t go for his daily stroll until it had been returned. If you look underneath the bench on one of the legs you will see that the name ‘Bob’s Bench’ has been burned into the wood in his honour.
This is the best place to look for the majestic Banded Demoiselle which graces the air for a short period of around two weeks in midsummer and is often referred to as small flying helicopters - look over the rapids area in front of the bench for the best chance of seeing them.


Breightmet Hall – is shown on the 1764 map as once being opposite ‘Gate’ No. 8 on Wagon Road (where the Young People’s Centre is now). Reverend John Parker who lived in Breightmet Hall at that time was the owner of much of the land to the east of the river and we are thankful that, in 1764, he commissioned a map to be drawn showing the layout of all his land together with the field names*.
By the time of the 1841 census, a William Hampson was living here with his wife Anne and ten of their children – plus two servants! Incidentally, it was Mr Hampson who donated the land (called Cynder Hill) and the parish church to the community of Breightmet - the church (St James) was consecrated in 1835.
By the 1930’s the Glaister family was living there and the Hall was compulsorily purchased by Bolton Council, to make way for the building of council houses, necessitated by slum clearance in the town centre. The Hall was somewhat summarily demolished and some of the debris is to be seen to this day, in Sycamore Wood.

Brookside footpath – starts at the end of Brookside Road (open access at ‘Gate’ No. 14) and runs along the fence at the east side of the Undershore Works. It then passes through ‘Gate’ No. 15 and joins the Kingfisher Trail at Kingfisher Bridge. 

Take care when using the path as it is a steep drop into the river.  Grey Wagtails and Dippers can often be seen along this stretch of the river.

Along this pathway is a good patch of Yellow Loosestrife which grows in clusters of tall stems covered with bright yellow flowers. Around Seven Acres there are various patches of both this and the very similar Dotted Loosestrife which we suspect have escaped from a nearby garden at some point.

Community Pond – created by the Wildlife Trust in 2006 as a habitat for water creatures and plants. In particular this little pond is home to four species of Amphibians: Frog, Toad, Smooth newt and Palmate newt. 
The fact that it dries-out in the summer means that there are no fish present which, in turn, means that there are no fish eating the amphibian’s eggs and therefore allows them a much greater chance of survival. 
For the best chance of seeing these wonderful creatures, shine a bright torch into the pond just after sunset during the spring months when they are most active in the pond.
Around the area of the pond grows Fragrant Agrimony, a sweet-smelling plant with tall flower spikes bearing a multitude of bright yellow flowers historically used for making pot-pourris.

Dressage Field – a local name given to the field which is used and maintained by the Bolton and District Riding Club. 
In the south-west corner of this field are the Zig-Zag steps which lead up to the Orchard footpath.

Ellis Fold Field – shown on the 1847 map, Ellis Fold was a small farmstead. The name has been given to the field which is now used and maintained by the Bolton and District Riding Club. 
‘Gates’ No. 1, 2 and 3 lead to/from this field.
This is one of the best places to look for our most acrobatic summer visiting birds such as Swifts, Swallows and House Martins as they are attracted to the invertebrates around the horse’s dung. 

 The view to the east is quite remarkable in the summer with the spectacular back-drop of trees across the river: there are over thirty different species of trees in Seven Acres.

ERC Building – this is the Greater Manchester office of the Lancashire Wildlife Trust. It was built in 2006 on the site of the former Gardner’s Garage and is a hub for a wide range of activities involving people and groups from within the local community. 

‘Gate’ No. 12 provides open access to the Reserve down the side of the ERC Lodge.

ERC Lodge – the lodge was formerly a Mill Pond and is clearly shown on the 1764 Estate Map. The ERC building is located on the former Field Plot of G11 with its corresponding field name of Toothill Hulme. 
By 2006 the lodge was losing water-holding capacity due to years of siltation and it was de-silted to restore water volume – resulting in the magnificent lodge you see today. 
A pair of Moorhen usually breeds on the lodge as do at least one pair of Mallard.  Some of the larger dragonflies such as Brown Hawker and Southern Hawker patrol the edges in summer and autumn hunting for smaller insects.

One of the best times to visit this lodge is during the winter months when we have hard frosts and many other ponds are frozen. Because water is constantly flowing into (and out of) the lodge it very rarely freezes entirely, thereby meaning that an area of open water is available to birds struggling to find this anywhere else. 
This means you never know what might turn up – in the past we have had Cormorants, Little Grebes, Snipe and even Woodcock! 
On one occasion, one winter, looking out of the office window we witnessed two deer crossing the ice – a real Bambi moment!
One of the prettiest plants in this area is Water Avens, a particularly secretive plant that sometimes takes a bit of hunting down – it can usually be seen near the small bridge where water runs into the lodge. It’s nodding cup-like flowers dancing in the breeze.
There is a small wooden bench beside the path, at the corner of the lodge, from where there are two sets of steps: the set of 10 steps leads down a path to the Kingfisher Trail and you should watch out for Yellow Pimpernel along the edge of the path - a plant which particularly enjoys being in shade in old woodlands.
The other set, of 77 steps, leads down to a metal bridge which crosses the spillway from the ERC Lodge. 

Interestingly, (from a Heritage point of view) the water which flows down the spillway and under the metal bridge is running down the route of a medieval footpath, the cobbles of which you can still see today. 

Glade – we have adopted the local name for this flat area of land. The Roe Deer can sometimes be seen here – especially early in the morning.
This is one of the best spots on Seven Acres to look for the beautiful Small-Copper Butterfly. Whilst this species is one of the smallest on site it is certainly one of the most striking.

Harts-tongue Hollow – def. Hart's-tongue Fern is a medium-sized fern that can be found growing in damp, shady gorges and banks in woodlands, as well as on rocks, walls and mossy branches. 

There are many other species of ferns in this area but the Harts-tongue is somewhat special in that it is described in some journals as being ‘an indicator of Ancient Woodland’. 

Heathland – recently created by the Wildlife Trust, it is an invaluable diverse habitat.
Some of the elderly local residents say that, During World War 2, as part of the Government’s ‘dig for victory’ plan, this field was used to grow turnips.
In late summer look for the purple flowers on the heather and watch the bees busy visiting the flowers!
Large and Small Skipper butterflies can often be seen in this field in the summer where they lay their eggs on the grasses.

Also to be seen, often feeding on the heather is the Silver Y, a migrating moth species which often arrives in great numbers flying at high altitude. It can be seen both during the day and at night and is easily identifiable by the metallic ‘y’ shape on its wings.

Heathland Bench - the bench was made from a fallen Ash tree by LWT volunteers and installed in March 2012 by the SAS. 
When they were installing the bench, as they were digging-out the holes in the ground, at a depth of 3 feet and some 30 feet from where the river is now, the Volunteers encountered a layer of pebbles – there is Geological evidence that the river bed was formed in glacial times.
It is a popular resting place for ramblers who sit in the hope of seeing the Kingfisher or the Dipper. Dippers have been known to nest near to the weir at Thicketford Bridge. 
In the spring you can see particularly vibrant patches of Wood Anemone along the river bank. 
Quote: ‘If  
primroses are the harbingers of spring, then wood anemones are its confirmation. The sight of shady banks and glades lit by their white stars on a sunny spring day leaves you in no doubt that spring is truly here’ (The Telegraph 16th March 2002)

Kestrel Meadow – is much-used as a feeding ground by the Kestrels and, for reasons of management, it is conveniently divided into North and South by the now-disused Leat. We hope to create a Wildflower Meadow in the southern meadow sometime soon.
Note: One day, in November 2013, whilst standing in Kestrel Meadow, a Kestrel was seen hovering over the Dressage Field to the north whilst a Buzzard was flying overhead and, at that same time, a Sparrowhawk was seen over Roe Deer Meadow to the south.
Along the western side of Kestrel Meadow (south) are a series of disused reservoirs which, in the 1700’s, were fed with water from the river, via the Leat, for use by the Bleachworks (where the Undershore Works is today). 

The Leat which crosses the meadow has now been blocked-off by the footpaths so; any water seen in the old reservoirs is run-off from the western side of the Park which helps provide an invaluable habitat for the wildlife.

Kestrel Meadow itself is a good site for Pignut plants which produce flat groups of flowers in May and June.  The Pignut is a food plant of the small, dark day-flying moth the Chimney Sweeper and these can be seen, often in good numbers in mid to late June.

The Pignut species hates disturbance so it indicates an important area of old grassland.
Another day-flying moth which is to be seen in considerable numbers throughout Seven Acres is the brightly coloured Cinnabar Moth the caterpillars of which feed on the poisonous Ragwort plant.
Kindor Bank – named after Mr John Kindor who is shown in the ‘1764 FIELD NAMES OF
BREIGHTMET’ as being the tenant farmer of a number of the fields on the east bank of the
 river – the land was owned in the 1760’s by the Reverend John Parker of Breightmet Hall.

Kindor Bank footpath – connects the Kingfisher Bridge to Winchester Way (beside the Community Church) at ‘Gate’ No. 6 and is a good place to see Bluebells on both sides of the path in the spring. 
Use this footpath to get to the Community Pond or to see Hart’s-tongue Hollow which is just to the west of the small set of four steps.

Kingfisher Bridge – this is where the Kingfisher Trail crosses the river. In the summer, the visiting parties of schoolchildren who are on educational visits can be seen ‘river dipping’ here.
In the river, in early summer, look out for our speciality - the River Water Crowfoot which features as the logo of our Friends of Seven Acres group! It has white buttercup flowers which sit above the water and the leaves in the water below are thread-like so as not to get washed away in the fast-flowing water! In a good year, when the river has not been too high, we can see complete carpets of this species in many different places.
It is common to see persons fishing in different parts of the river as it passes through Seven Acres and, operating on a catch-and-release basis, they enjoy many catches of brown trout. Recently, there have been stories of grayling being present in the river which, if true, is good news because the grayling will not tolerate anything but the cleanest of waters.
Kingfisher Trail – runs from Phillips Park, Prestwich to the Jumbles reservoir. From the south, it enters Seven Acres on Bury Road at ‘Gate’ No. 13 where, after entering, you pass our new wildflower meadows on the left and the right. 
You may see Kingfishers at any point along this wonderful route but be aware that you may need your wellies on for some of the parts of the Kingfisher Trail outside of Seven Acres!
This fantastic wildlife corridor is one of the key reasons why Seven Acres is so rich in wildlife. With so many excellent sites linked-in together, wildlife can move up and down the valley finding the best habitat sites in which to settle down. Watch out for and Herons, Dippers and, of course, the kingfisher as you pass through.
The Trail leaves Seven Acres at the north end – ‘Gate’ No. 4 – where it crosses Thicketford Road and heads up to Crompton Fold (birthplace of Samuel Crompton in 1753).

Leat – it was used in the 18th and 19th centuries to take water from the river to the reservoirs for use by the one of the Bleach Works. The leat is now maintained as a wetland habitat for wildlife and is an invaluable home for a range of amphibians and aquatic invertebrates.
Similar to the Community Pond, it dries-out in the summer which means that fish cannot live here so; the amphibian’s eggs which are laid in the spring have the chance to survive.


Leat Meadow – a strip of grassland between the Leat and Kingfisher Trail. The meadow is ‘managed’ in the same way as Roe Deer Meadow so as to encourage the growth of flowers etc. for butterflies/moths etc. 
One of the key plants growing in this area is Tormentil, an indicator of acidic soil conditions.

Longfield Clearing – another 1764 field name.
Longfield clearing is a good place to see butterflies on sunny days in spring and summer.  Large and Small Skippers; Large, Small and Green-veined Whites; Peacocks and Small Tortoiseshells are often seen. 
Greenfinches can often be heard calling from the tops of the birches at the lower end of the clearing.

Loop – is a local name given to a topographical feature. In the late summer some of the finest blackberries are to be found here! 
Dipper and Grey Wagtail are frequently seen along the river as it passes around the Loop.
This is one of the best places to see a carpet of Lesser Celandines in the spring which have very low-growing, bright yellow, star-like flowers and the leaves are kidney-shaped.


Also in this area is a carpet of Hedge Woundwort which has a pungent smell that you will not forget in a hurry! Historically, it was used medicinally to heal wounds. 
This is also the spot to look out for Common Spotted Orchids, although not present in every year they tend to move around within the Loop, popping up in one position one year and then in an entirely different position the next.
Open Steps - the ‘Friends’ secured funding in 2012 for the work of restoring some of the footpaths and the creation of new steps on the west side of the Park. This was done primarily to facilitate access for those residents who live in the Tonge Fold area. 
All the other steps have handrails on both sides but, since these steps are wider and more shallow it was decided to leave them ‘open’.

Growing adjacent to these ‘open’ steps is Lady’s Mantle, a plant which grows in a spreading manner and whose leaves fold upwards during the night-times to catch the dew. This dew was needed historically to turn base metals into gold thereby giving it its scientific name Alchemilla or ‘little alchemist’. 

Orchard – was created by the ‘Friends’ in 2012 following the establishment of the new footpath and steps. 
Featured within this orchard are a number of fruit tree varieties originating from the North of England along with a few favourites from further afield.
Incidentally, in 2014 some 50 more assorted fruit trees were planted at various random locations around the whole of Seven Acres. The actual locations are marked on a map which can only be viewed by ‘approved persons’!

Orchard Footpath – connects Crompton Way at ‘Gate’ No. 17 with the Country Park. 
About halfway along the footpath, near the Orchard, there is a set of steps leading down to the Glade and, at the north end of the footpath, there is the Zig-Zag steps leading down to the Dressage Field.

This footpath provides a good example of issues present within Seven Acres as a whole; the closeness to the nearby houses has led to a number of garden escapee plants becoming established on the site such as the glorious Solomon’s Seal.

There is a good example of a Hart's-tongue Fern growing right beside the path immediately behind No. 120 Crompton Way.  And, recently-discovered, is another example - almost opposite but  part-hidden under some brambles/hawthorn.
Pamfort Meadow – another 1764 field name.

Look for the tall stems and purple flowers of Devil’s-bit Scabious amongst the grasses.

Pamfort is maintained to encourage wild flowers which attract butterflies and bees.  Large and Small Skippers; Meadow Brown; Gatekeeper; Comma, Small Tortoiseshell; Peacock and Small Copper can all be seen in their season in Pamfort.  
Of the bumblebees Large Red-tailed, White-tailed, Buff-tailed and Tree Bumblebees and Carder Bees can be found gathering nectar and pollen. 

At the top of the meadow is a small copse of hazel trees which is much-favoured by the Roe Deer as a resting point in the summer months. If you look closely at the trees you can where they have been using some of them as ‘rubbing posts’.
Pear Tree gate – so called because of the wild pear trees growing in the hedge just to the north of ‘Gate’ No. 3. 
Next to the pear trees is a healthy stand of Blackthorn which is the first tree to blossom in the spring.

 Also, growing immediately adjacent to the kissing-gate is Bullace, a shrubby tree related to Damsons and Sloes.

Pebble Beach - a local name given to the stony ‘beach’ on a bend in the river and on which the children play in the summer months. 
In the summer evenings, Daubenton bats can be seen/heard flying over and feeding from the river at this point.

Riding Club Storeroom – used by the Bolton and District Riding Club. The Riding Club pay rent to the Council for the use of the three fields and do a lot of invaluable work in maintaining them: mowing the grass and repairing the drains etc.
Importantly, the Riding Club always leaves the fields clean and tidy after their Events.

Riparian Corner – def. A riparian zone or riparian area is the interface between land and a river or stream.
After periods of heavy rain there is often considerable run-off of pollutants such as iron-oxide and we have created this area to deliberately slow down the water before it enters the river which allows most of the pollutants to fall out. 
To achieve this, we pollarded some of the local willow trees and laid the branches across the flow of water. You can see that the willow is sprouting anew from the cut branches.
We have recently planted some Common Reed rhizomes which, when they become established, will provide a habitat for wildlife. Also, the reeds will take-up some of the water, remove the pollutants and allow clear water to flow into the river.
Roe Deer Meadow – a local name given to the field beside Waggon Road on which the Roe Deer are sometimes seen. 
The grassland is managed by the LWT and is frequently used during the summer by children on educational visits to identify some of the many different species of moths and butterflies that breed here. 
We see on old maps that the field used to be a reservoir and the much-rusted mechanism, which was used for controlling the flow of water down to the Bleachworks, can still be seen today.

Part of the management of this area is to encourage the growth of Yellow Rattle - a flowering plant which is parasitic on grasses. It has yellow flowers in the summer followed by large inflated seed pods. These pods contain many seeds which rattle when dry – hence the name!

School Wood – much used during the summer by children on educational visits.

In the summer months we assist the Wildlife Trust with the educational visits – they have schools visiting, not just from within the borough of Bolton but from as far afield as Liverpool and Morecambe.

Sycamore Wood – although the trees that we see now are probably just 30 – 40 years old, some of the tree roots date back hundreds of year. The Sycamore (sometimes referred to as the Lancashire Weed) was much-used in the cotton industry since, once harvested, the heartwood does not leach sap and it was used for beams and rollers in the factories (especially the bleach works)
** Incidentally, Bark Street in Bolton was so-called because tree bark was used as a by-product in the tanning process at Walker’s Tannery. 

Sycamore Wood footpath – connects the Kingfisher Bridge in the middle of the park to Thicketford Road at ‘Gate’ No. 5. 
There are some 35 steps here and, at the bottom of the steps once stood the Bridge End Farm (shown on the 1908 map). The 1841 Census shows a Richard and Alice Pilling living here and they are shown as ‘farmers’.
 
Thicketford Brow Field – is a local name given to the field which is used and maintained by the Bolton and District Riding Club. 

Enter/exit via the new steps on Crompton Way at ‘Gate’ No. 18. 

Thicketford Brow is shown on the 1908 map.

Toothill Meadow – a local name given to the meadow which is on the opposite side of the Kingfisher Trail footpath, adjacent to the ruins of the Toothill Bridge Bleach Works. 
The 1847 map shows that the original Bolton/Bury road crossed the river at this point.
This area is a vital refuge for dragonflies and damselflies to ‘harden up’ when immature before they return to Bleachworks pond to try and stake a claim to a territory.
Undershore North footpath – ‘Gate’ No. 16 at Crompton Vale allows access down the side of the Undershore Works fence, joining the Brookside footpath near ‘Gate’ No. 15. 
Although it is shown as a ‘footpath’ it is entirely unadopted and is very muddy at times (all the time – ed!)
Undershore Works – it was formerly known as Whiteheads Bleach Works and then Rufus’s Bleach Works (1847) - which spawned the development of the reservoirs and leat water-transfer system (now used as wetland habitat). 
‘Gate’ No. 15 is on the Brookside footpath near the Works and the footpath is also designated as a bridleway.
Willow Pond – is part of the now disused system of reservoirs that used to feed the Bleach Works. This pond, in particular, is ‘managed’ by coppicing the willow trees so as to allow sunlight into the water which, in turn, allows wildlife to flourish. 
In the summer, the visiting parties of schoolchildren who are on educational visits can be seen ‘pond dipping’ here. 
This pond is particularly good for finding the Great Diving Beetle!
Woodside footpath – connects Waggon Road (‘Gate’ No. 9) to the Kingfisher Trail at Bank Top. Incidentally, Waggon Road is shown on the 1847 map and was so-called because it was used by the wagons of the day for taking away the produce from the colliery in the 1800’s. 
Woodside Meadow – a local name given to a very important area on which much wildlife lives. The name derives from the nearby Woodside Cottage which is shown, alongside the Woodside Farm, on the 1908 map (Woodside Farm was where Mobberley Road is today).
The Roe Deer often use this meadow as a transit route – evidenced by their hoof prints when the ground is muddy.

Reference is made in this Guide to works by others and, where dates are shown (esp. for the origin of species of trees) this is the first recorded date.
Reference works:

Books by Sara Elizabeth Vernon:

* 1764 Field Names of Breightmet - with particular reference to Seven Acres Country Park and its ancient woodland (no longer in print – see the History Centre at the Central Library and Museum)

** Bolton Street Names – their meanings and origins  - ISBN 978 0 7524 4652 3
*** In 2010 the Oxford Archaeology North were commissioned by Bolton Council to carry out an Archaeological Investigation on the Tootill Bleachworks and you can download their Report from our website.

Report by Alan G Crosby (MA, DPhil, FRHistS) - Seven Acres Country Park – Landscape History Report and Assessment (2005) – in the History Centre at the Central Library and Museum or, you can download the Map and the Report from our website.
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